JOHN T. ALLEN, JR.  
4508 CENTRAL AVE.,  
ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA 33711

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CONTRACTORS AND BUILDERS ASSOCIATION )  
OF PINELLAS COUNTY, a Florida corpora- )  
tion, HALLMARK DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, )  
INC., a foreign corporation licensed )  
to do business in the State of Florida, )  
KENNETH A. MARRIOTT, VERNON M. MILLER, )  
and GEORGE C. WAGNER, )

Petitioners, )

v. )

CITY OF DUNEDIN, FLORIDA, )

Respondent. )

CASE NO. 47,662

**FILED**

AUG 11 1975

SID J. WHITE  
CLERK SUPREME COURT

By JK

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

VOLUME I

JOHN T. ALLEN, JR., P.A.  
4508 Central Avenue  
St. Petersburg, FL 33711

Attorney for Petitioners

I N D E X

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this brief, petitioners, Contractors and Builders Association of Pinellas County, Inc., a Florida corporation, Hallmark Development Company, Inc., a foreign corporation licensed to do business in the State of Florida, Kenneth A. Marriott, Vernon M. Miller and George C. Wagner, who were plaintiffs in the Circuit Court of Pinellas County and appellees in the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Second District, will be referred to as "petitioners". Respondent, City of Dunedin, who was defendant in the Circuit Court of Pinellas County, and appellant in the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Second District, will be referred to as "respondent."

The following symbols will be used:

- TR - Transcript of Record
- R - Record-on-Appeal
- T - Transcript of Trial
- A - Appendix of Petitioners, Contractors and Builders Association of Pinellas County, Hallmark Development Company, Inc., Kenneth A. Marriott, Vernon M. Miller and George C. Wagner

THIS PETITION FOR CERTIORARI INVOLVES THE QUESTION OF THE LEGALITY OF "IMPACT FEES" IN FLORIDA IN WHICH A MUNICIPALITY IMPOSES A CHARGE OR TAX ON THE BUILDING INDUSTRY OR UPON "NEWCOMERS" TO DEFRAY THE ENTIRE COST OF PROVIDING A PARTICULAR MUNICIPAL SERVICE TO THE ENTIRE COMMUNITY.

On February 2, 1973, petitioners filed a declaratory judgment action on behalf of its members together with individually affected builders seeking to void respondent's impact fee ordinance.<sup>1</sup> The material portions of the ordinance which were ruled upon by the Court<sup>2</sup> stated:

"Sec. 25-14. Sewage connection required; notice.

"The owner of any house, building, or property used for human occupancy, employment, recreation, or other purpose, situated within the city and abutting on any street, alley or right-of-way in which there is now located or may in the future be located a public sanitary or combined sewer of the city, is hereby required at his expense to install suitable toilet facilities therein, and to connect such facilities directly with the proper public sewer in accordance with the provisions of this chapter, within ninety (90) days after date of official notice to do so, provided that said public sewer is within two hundred (200) feet of the house, building, or properties used for human occupancy.

"At the time of connection to the proper public sewer, if a septic tank has been abandoned, the owner is hereby required, at his expense, to have said septic tank pumped dry, filled to the rim with suitable fill material or excavated and disposed of and properly backfilled. \* \*"

"Sec. 25-31. Same--Classes of permits; contents; inspection fees.

"There shall be two (2) classes of sewer permits: (1) for residential and commercial service, and (2) for service to establishments producing industrial waste. In either case, the owner

---

1. (R 1-12) (TR 1-12)

2. The ordinance was amended several times but not materially changed from the pertinent sections as plead in the original complaint. See R 1033-1050; 1051; 1052-1053; 1055; 1056-1057; 1058-1059; 1060-1062; 1063-1066; 1073-1074 - for final amendment see R 1063-1066.

or his agent shall make application on a special form furnished by the City. The permit application shall be supplemented by any plans, specifications or other information considered pertinent in the judgment of the city sewer superintendent. A permit and connection fee of \$100 for each connection to a public sewer installed at city expense shall be paid to the finance director at the time the application for same shall be filed. This fee shall not apply to connections within a collector system installed not at the expense of the city." (R 1064)

"Sec. 25-32. Same--Costs paid by owner.

"All costs and expense incident to the installation, connection and maintenance of the building and collector sewers shall be borne by the owners. The owners shall indemnify the city from any loss or damage that may directly or indirectly be occasioned by the installation of the building sewer. \* \*"

"Sec. 25-71. Meters--Connection or installation charge.

"(a) The connection charge for the installation of a meter inside the city shall be as follows:

5/8"	meter-----	\$ 95.00
1"	meter-----	170.00
1-1/2"	meter-----	265.00
2"	meter-----	360.00

"(b) The connection charge for the installation of a meter outside the city limits shall be as follows:

5/8"	meter-----	\$ 105.00
1"	meter-----	180.00
1-1/2"	meter-----	290.00
2"	meter-----	390.00

"(c) In addition to the meter installation charges described herein, there shall be paid an assessment to defray the cost of production, distribution, transmission and treatment facilities for water and sewer provided at the expense of the City of Dunedin, as follows:

Each dwelling unit; for water-----	\$ 325.00
for sewer-----	375.00
Each transient unit; for water-----	150.00
for sewer-----	275.00
Each business unit; for water-----	325.00
for sewer-----	375.00

"(d) The assessments as set forth herein shall be payable upon issuance of the building permit for said unit or units in the case of new construction, or in the case of a presently existing structure or structures, such assessments shall be payable when the permits for water or sewer connections are issued. \* \*"

The complaint alleged that Ordinance 25-71 constituted a special assessment against all property owners who wished to obtain water and sewer connections "to defray the cost of production, distribution, transmission and treatment facilities for water and sewer provided at the expense of the City of Dunedin."<sup>3</sup> In ADDITION to the normal connection charge of \$100 and installation charge for a meter which varied in cost as to size and location,<sup>4</sup> each property owner was REQUIRED to pay an impact fee for sewer and water of \$700 for each dwelling or business unit. Transient units were assessed at \$325. In view of these requirements, the complaint concluded:

"10. According to the ordinance, one unit for water and sewer imposes an \$800 special assessment in addition to connection charges as more particularly prescribed in Section 25-71 of the ordinance. The assessments are required to be paid upon issuance of a building permit in the case of new construction

---

3. (R 4) (TR 4)

4. Whether inside city limits or outside city limits.

or upon issuance of permits for water and sewage connections in cases of pre-existing structures.

"11. The practical effect of the ordinance requires all residents to connect to sewage and water facilities. No permits will be issued for sewer and water unless each property owner pays a special assessment according to the number of water and sewer units placed on the property. As an example, an apartment building comprising twenty apartments at a unit cost of \$800 for one water and sewage connection would be assessed the sum of \$16,000.

"12. The intent of the ordinance is to provide revenue for additional public improvement facilities to be constructed in the future for water and sewage. The \$800 assessment was arrived at strictly on the basis of a general estimate of costs for water and sewage improvements in the sum of \$8,000,000. The Dunedin City Council, prior to passage of the ordinance, concluded that they would have approximately 1,000 applications per year for water and sewer connections, and therefore, the funds raised by the ordinance would be funded toward the cost of new water and sewer facilities." (R 4-5)

The complaint attacked the ordinance upon three basic grounds:

1. The ordinance was enacted without legislative authority in that there was no authority to pass the ordinance under the Dunedin charter, Chapter 167, 170, or 180 F.S.A. 1971.

2. The ordinance was an invalid special assessment in that: It was indefinite as to whether or not the assessment was being levied for existing or future planned

water and sewer plants;<sup>5</sup> *it constituted general taxation for facilities enjoyed by all citizens;*<sup>6</sup> it failed to specifically and peculiarly benefit the property assessed and did not benefit or improve the value of the property assessed equal to the value of the assessment; was exorbitant and prohibitive of building construction; failed to provide for a method of apportionment at any one time; failed to establish definite costs prior to assessment.

3. The ordinance was unconstitutional on its face and in application in that:

"33. The ordinance, as hereinabove factually alleged, imposes an assessment which exceeds the benefits conferred on the property assessed, constitutes general taxation of a particular group for the benefit of a larger group, or in this case the entire citizenry of the City of Dunedin. The ordinance further fails to give property owners who would be assessed notice of the assessment and an opportunity to be heard prior to the imposition of the final assessment. Accordingly, the ordinance is invalid and unconstitutional as violating the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Constitution of the State of Florida as revised 1971.

"34. The assessment, as hereinabove factually alleged, and as revealed by the plain reading of the ordinance, is taxation of a particular class for special tax purposes in an area exclusively recognized by law as general taxation, is in application palpably arbitrary and

- 
5. If for existing water and sewer plants it required a portion of the citizens to bear the unequal burden for the benefit of all; if for future water and sewer plants it required a portion of the citizens to pay for facilities to be enjoyed by all citizens.
  6. A conclusion which the lower court agreed with.

unreasonable, grossly unequal and confiscatory and devoid of any rational basis so as to essentially constitute an arbitrary abuse of power and, therefore, void as unconstitutional in violating the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article I, Section 1, of the Constitution of the State of Florida, as revised 1971." (R 10-11)

After denial of respondent's motion to dismiss,<sup>7</sup> respondent filed an answer essentially denying the material allegations of petitioners' complaint.<sup>8</sup> The case went to trial on March 7, 1974. The Honorable B. J. Driver rendered final judgment essentially finding for petitioners on March 29, 1974.<sup>9</sup> The Court's opinion stated:

"The City of Dunedin is enjoying, or suffering, depending upon one's viewpoint, growth problems. The demand for sewer and water connections has strained the capabilities of the sewer and water departments to near the breaking point. Attempting to cope with the demand for sewer and water connections the City adopted Ordinance 72-26, which as amended assessed against new connections a total 'impact fee' of approximately \$700.00 for dwelling or commercial units.

"Plaintiffs, CONTRACTORS AND BUILDERS ASSOCIATION OF PINELLAS COUNTY, HALLMARK DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC., KENNETH A. MARRIOTT, VERNON M. MILLER, and GEORGE C. WAGNER, seek declaratory and injunctive relief in this action against the imposition of the 'impact fee'.

---

7. (R 13-17; 20) (TR 13-17; 20)

8. (R 66-67) (TR 21-22)

9. (R 724-729) (TR 337-342)

FACTUAL FINDINGS:

"The cause having been tried to the Court sitting without jury, the parties having submitted evidence, stipulations, and other proofs, the Court finds the ultimate facts to be: that the City on May 1, 1972, adopted Ordinance 72-26; that on June 19, 1972, Ordinance 72-26 was amended by Ordinance 72-42; that as amended, Ordinance 72-26 imposes an 'assessment' of \$375.00 to connect to the sewer system of Dunedin, and an 'assessment' of \$325.00 for water connections; that the 'assessment' is against each individual dwelling unit and business unit; that the aggregate cost to a dwelling or business unit to connect with the Dunedin sewer and water system is \$700.00; that a fee of \$700.00 for connections is substantially in excess of the cost of connecting to the systems; that payment of the fee is a condition precedent to the water or sewer connection, is payable but once and does not constitute a charge against real property; that the proceeds derived from the \$700.00 connecting fees are earmarked by the City for capital improvements to the system as a whole; the Court further finds that plaintiffs have standing to bring this action and that each plaintiff is adversely affected; finally, that payment of the 'impact fee' is limited to new connections to the water and sewer system and is not payable to any degree by the existing users of the sewer and water system. The salutary purpose of Ordinance 72-26 strikes a sympathetic chord with the Court. Implicit in the ordinance is the philosophy that those who are creating the inordinate demand for services ought to bear the prime cost of the same. This approach is laudable, but unfortunately it has resulted in a solution not authorized by the Charter of the City of Dunedin, nor by General Statute.

"This is so for the reason that the power to tax can never be inferred or implied but must be expressly conferred to a municipality. Statutes purporting to grant a



power of taxation are strictly construed against the town or city purporting to act under them.

"The City claims as authority to impose the 'impact fee' the following provisions of its Charter and general legislative acts:

CHARTER, Article XII Section 70

Article II Section 7 (23)

Fla. STAT. Secs. 167.01, 167.73,

168.14 and 180.13

And all other applicable provisions of Charter or general law.

"Section 70 of the Charter, supra, is a grant of authority to the City to provide, construct, and maintain public improvements, including sewer and water systems, and further provides for the method of paying for such improvements. The method of payment provided for in Section 70 is by 'direct' taxation or by special assessment against the property benefitted by such 'improvements'.

"It needs no discussion to point out that the 'impact fee' under attack is not 'direct taxation' and could not be sustained as such.

"Can the 'impact fee' be sustained as a 'special assessment against the property benefitted by such improvements'? Again, the answer must be no. In the first place, the 'impact fee' is not a 'special assessment against property benefitted by such improvements', but even more important, Section 70 directs that in case of special assessment, it shall be done in accordance with the general law for paying for public improvements and declining to catalog these requirements it is sufficient to say that there has been no compliance with the requirements of general law.

"Article II, Section 7 (23), supra, does nothing but grant the City implied powers in carrying out specific grants of power or authority. Power to tax cannot be implied, nor inferred, but must be clearly and unequivocally conferred by Charter or Statute. The 'impact fee' is sometimes designated a 'capital contribution charge', 'assessment', 'connection charge', or 'impact fee'. By whatever name, it is money taken by the municipality from the citizens and property owners for a public purpose and as such, under the law, can only be considered an exercise of the power of taxation.

"If the City is without express power to levy the tax, then it cannot be upheld under 'implied power.'

"In summary, as to the authority of the City under its Charter, the Court finds that the fee sought to be levied under Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42 is not 'general taxation' nor is it 'a special assessment against the lands to be benefitted'. The fee, therefore, cannot be sustained under the Charter.

"The Court has endeavored to indulge a presumption of correctness and validity which surrounds a properly enacted ordinance. To this end Sections 167.01 and 167.73 of the Florida Statutes have been scrutinized closely as a possible support for the tax. Counsel for defendant City provided the Court with vigorous and ingenious arguments urging these statutes as a salvation for the 'impact fee.'

"These sections of the statutes constitute general grants of power to Florida municipalities to make improvements and authorize 'reasonable charges' for the furnishing of services and facilities by municipalities. Unfortunately, the fee under attack is not a 'reasonable charge' as contemplated by the aforesaid statutes, but in effect is an effort to provide assessments for construction of a system in a manner prohibited by law. CITY OF HALLENDALE vs.

MEEKINS, (Fla. 4th DCA) 273 So.2d 318;  
STEWART vs. CITY OF DELAND, 75 So.2d 584;  
and STATE vs. CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, 61  
So.2d 416.

"Plaintiffs have posed certain constitutional issues; however, having determined that the City is without Charter or statutory authority to levy the fee under Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42, it is not necessary to consider the constitutional issues. It is fundamental that a Court should not resolve a matter through constitutional consideration except when absolutely necessary.

"It is the purpose of this law to better enable the several counties and municipalities of this state to provide public services and construct public facilities to accommodate the orderly growth and development within their jurisdictions. To this end it is the intent of the Florida legislature that the costs of these services be more fairly borne by the owners of new construction and development which make these additional costs necessary rather than placing a burden of these costs on owners of existing construction. It is the further purpose of this law to eliminate the need for development and construction moratoriums by insuring that counties and municipalities can provide services and facilities necessary to accommodate orderly growth.'

"The language quoted above is from a legislative Act presently pending before the State legislature. This Act, if passed, will be known as the 'Florida Impact Fee Law.'

"It is to the ultimate passage of this Act that the defendant City must look for authority to collect the fees provided for under Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42, absent, of course, an amendment to the City Charter.

"The existence of the proposed legislation was brought to the Court by defendant's

counsel and notwithstanding that in doing so counsel urged that its purpose was to provide for a 'uniform method' of 'impact fee' assessments, it is persuasive of an acknowledgement that there is no present authority for the imposition of an 'impact fee'; wherefore, it is

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECLARED:

"a. That the City of Dunedin was without authority to enact those provisions of Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42 which levied the \$375.00 and \$325.00 fees respectively for connecting to the water and sewer lines.

"b. That the City of Dunedin is enjoined and restrained from enforcing collection of the fees as now provided for under Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42, PROVIDED that the City may by appropriate ordinance charge and collect a 'reasonable fee' for connect-int to its municipal water and sewer systems all within the purview and under the authority of Chapters 167.01 and 167.73, Florida Statutes.

"c. That the City refund to the individual plaintiffs to this cause or to any member of plaintiff, CONTRACTOR AND BUILDERS ASSOCIATION OF PINELLAS COUNTY, any fees paid and collected under Ordinances 72-26 and 72-42 if said fees were paid by the payor under protest. It is the explicit intent of the Court that to make the effect of this Judgment retroactive in toto is impractical and the ends of justice do not require subjecting the defendant City to the expense and difficulties of accounting for all fees heretofore collected.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that plaintiffs have their costs from defendant and same shall be taxed upon appropriate Motion therefor.

"IT IS SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED in Chambers in Clearwater, Florida, this 26th day of March, 1974."

Thereafter, respondent filed notice of appeal on April 2, 1974.<sup>10</sup> Petitioners timely filed cross assignments of error, seeking reversal of that portion of the judgment that failed to require the repayment of all impact fees collected.<sup>11</sup>

In taxing costs, the lower court failed to award costs of transcribing the City Council's recording of the proceedings of City Council at the time of the enactment of the ordinances under attack. Petitioners filed a petition to review cost judgment on or about June 26, 1974.<sup>12</sup> The District Court of Appeal entered its order permitting review to proceed as an interlocutory appeal and later granted stipulation of counsel that the appeals be consolidated.<sup>13</sup>

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