## IN THE

۱\_\_۱

•

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| CONTRACTORS AND BUILDERS ASSOCIATION<br>OF PINELLAS COUNTY, a Florida corpora-    | ) |               |    |
|---|---|---------------|----|
| tion, HALLMARK DEVELOPMENT COMPANY,<br>INC., a foreign corporation licensed       | ) |               |    |
| to do business in the State of Florida,<br>KENNETH A. MARRIOTT, VERNON M. MILLER, | ) |               |    |
| and GEORGE C. WAGNER,   | ) |               |    |
| Petitioners,  | ) |               |    |
| vs.   | ) | CASE NO. 47,6 | 62 |
| CITY OF DUNEDIN, FLORIDA,   | ) |               |    |
| Respondent.   | ) |               |    |
|   | ) |               |    |

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

#### ARGUMENT

,

#### POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT "WHERE THE GROWTH PATTERNS ARE SUCH THAT AN EXISTING WATER OR SEWER SYSTEM WILL HAVE TO BE EXPANDED IN THE NEAR FUTURE, A MUNICIPALITY MAY PROPERLY CHARGE FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF CONNECTING TO THE SYSTEM A FEE WHICH IS IN EXCESS OF THE PHYSICAL COST OF CONNECTION, IF THIS FEE DOES NOT EXCEED A PROPORTIONATE PART OF THE AMOUNT REASONABLY NECESSARY TO FINANCE THE EXPANSION AND IS EARMARKED FOR THAT PURPOSE".

Petitioners' brief commences with an assertion that the question before the court is one of much legal conflict. If legal conflict is measured by the pound, this statement is true; but it is significant that Petitioners in their 120 pages have failed to cite a single case contrary to the holding of the District Court.

Each of the cases cited by Petitioners will be disposed of herein; but first, Respondent would agree that the threshold question is one of the legal authority of the City to adopt the challenged ordinance.

# A. (1) A CITY HAS CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY AND PROPRIETARY POWER TO IMPOSE SUCH A FEE.

It has been stated innumerable times that an ordinance or other action of a governmental body comes before a court clothed with a presumption of correctness. Yet the Respondent cannot be content to wrap itself in this mantle of propriety arbitrarily and without explanation. It must first be shown that the Respondent has the <u>power</u> to act, before the act itself can be presumed valid. In this case, the action of the Respondent was authorized on three different foundations: Constitutional home rule, express statutory authority, and inherent proprietary power.

-11-

#### a. CONSTITUTIONAL POWER

Since the enactment of the 1968 Constitution, the nature and scope of municipal powers has been the subject of some confusion. The Constitution states simply:

> "Municipalities shall have governmental corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal givernment, perform municipal functions, and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes except as otherwise provided by law. Each municipal legislative body shall be elective." Fla. Const. Art. VIII §2(b).

In case there was any doubt about the meaning of the quoted section of the Constitution, the 1973 Legislature clarified the matter. In Chapter 73-129, (Now Ch. 166, Fla. Stats.), the Legislature repealed ten chapters of the Florida Statutes, including statutes dealing with the subject of municipal public works, special assessments and water and sewer financing. In so doing, the legislature stated:

> "It is the legislative intent that the repeal of the foregoing chapters of the Florida Statutes shall not be interpreted to limit or restrict the powers of municipal officials, but shall be interpreted as a recognition of constitutional powers. It is further the legislative intent to recognize residual Constitutional home rule power in municipal government and the legislature finds that this can best be accomplished by the removal of legislative direction from the statutes. It is further the legislative intent that municipalities shall continue to exercise all powers heretofore conferred on municipalities by the Chapters enumerated above, but shall hereafter, exercise those powers at their own discretion, subject only to the terms and conditions which they choose to prescribe." FLA. STAT. §166.042(1).

The legislature thus recognized that since 1968, all duly chartered municipalities have had the full right of local selfgovernment without resort to general or special legislation for

-12-

authority. The Court may recall and take notice of the fact that prior to "home rule", the biennial sessions of the legislature were besieged with special acts relating to particular counties and cities, most of which were "rubberstamped" by the whole legislature upon recommendation of the local delegation. According to Mr. D'Alemberte's comments in Florida Statutes Annotated,

> "The provisions in this subsection [Art. VIII §2(b)] were new with the Revision Commission's proposal, but the 1885 Constitution granted the power to the legislature to prescribe the jurisdiction and powers of municipalities by law in Article VIII, Section 8. The apparent difference is that under the new language, all municipalities have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers unless otherwise provided by law, whereas under the 1885 Constitution, municipalities had only those powers expressly granted by law."

In <u>City of Miami Beach v. Fleetwood Hotel, Inc.</u>, 261 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1972) this Court grappled with the question of the limits of constitutional home rule powers of the cities under the revised Constitution of 1968. The case dealt with the power of a city to impose rent controls, and after quoting the pertinent provisions of the 1885 and 1968 Constitutions, the Court observed:

> "Although this new provision does change the old rule of the 1885 Constitution respecting delegated powers of municipalities (emphasis supplied), it still limits municipal powers to the performance of <u>municipal</u> functions." (Emphasis by the Court).

This Court then divided 4-3 on the question of whether rent control was a municipal function. In any event, the question became moot with the adoption of Chapter 73-129, Laws of Florida. <u>See City</u> of Miami Beach v. Forte Towers, Inc., 305 So. 2d 764, (Fla. 1974).

-13-

It is thus clear that the Respondent had the power to adopt any ordinance reasonably related to the subject of water and sewer systems, which have been held to be proper subjects of local governmental authority. <u>City of Lakeland v. State ex rel. Harris</u>, 143 Fla. 761, 197 So. 470 (1940).

## b. STATUTORY POWER

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Respondent has no home rule powers and must look to an express grant of power in order to uphold its ordinances, there were statutes in existence at the time of adoption of Ordinance 72-26 which authorized cities in general to operate utility systems and to establish rates and charges for such utilities. FLA. STAT. §180.13(2) provides:

> "The City Council, or other legislative body of the municipality, by whatever name known, may establish just and equitable rates or charges to be paid to the municipality for the use of the utility by each person, firm or corporation whose premises are served thereby...."

The foregoing statute was once challenged as an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power to local government without adequate guidelines. This Court recognized that the statute fixed a standard of "just and reasonable" charges, and held that standard to be adequate. The Court further recognized the inherent constitutional power of municipalities to provide services under the 1968 Constitution, and held:

> "Implicit in the power to provide municipal services is the power to construct, maintain and operate the necessary facilities. The fixing of fair and reasonable rates for utilities services provided <u>is an incident</u> of the authority, given by the Constitution

> > -14-

and statutes to provide and maintain those services..." (Emphasis supplied). <u>Cooksey v.</u> Utilities Commission, 261 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1972).

٦.

It is thus beyond question that the Respondent has the inherent power to impose rates and charges upon those who would avail themselves of its services. The charges are in exchange for a service rendered. Yet the circuit court applied its own peculiar definition. After noting the general law, and also the specific provisions of the Dunedin City Charter which authorized construction and maintenance of public improvements and utilities, the court noted:

> "Article II, Section 7(23) supra, does nothing but grant the city implied powers in carrying out specific grants of power or authority. Power to tax cannot be implied nor inferred, but must be clearly and unequivocally conferred by Charter or Statute. The impact fee is sometimes designated as a 'capital contribution charge', 'assessment', 'connection charge', or 'impact fee'. By whatever name, it is money taken by the municipality from the citizens and property owners for a public purpose and as such, under the law, can only be considered an exercise of the power of taxation." (R-727).

The circuit court overlooked the fact that neither citizens nor property owners <u>per se</u> are charged under Ordinance 72-26. The ordinance affects only those persons who choose to avail themselves of utility service after the effective date of the ordinance. Those persons may or may not be citizens or property owners, and citizens and property owners might or might not be subject to the ordinance. Applicability of the ordinance is not determined by any action of the Respondent, but by the voluntary connection to the utility system by a customer who has not previously connected.

The Courts have noted that there are three charges related to the operation of a water and sewer system, and the distinctions

-15-

in each must be noted to avoid confusion. First, there is a connection charge; next, there is a monthly usage charge; third, there is the possible imposition of special assessments for benefits conferred to land irrespective of usage. <u>Pizza Palace of Miami, Inc. v. City of</u> Hialeah, 242 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 3d D.C.A. 1971).

It is obvious that the challenge to the Respondent's ordinance does not rest on monthly use charges. The question of whether a special assessment has been imposed is dealt with in greater detail later in this brief; suffice it to say here that no lien is imposed on real property, and no ascertainable charge is fixed until the property is put to use, after which an initial charge is imposed based on the estimated volume of usage flowing to and from the property.

The question, then, is whether the ordinance imposes a valid connection charge, or an unauthorized tax. The accepted rule in Florida was set forth concisely in <u>State v. City of Miami</u>, 27 So. 2d 118 (Fla. 1946) where this Court upheld a water and sewer revenue bond ordinance against a challenge that the ordinance's rates and fees constituted a tax. The Court stated: [at 124]

> "... the imposition of fees for the use of the sewage disposal system is not an exercise of the taxing power, nor is it the levy of a special assessment. A sewer system is complementary to a water system. A sewer system would be of no value without a water system and a water system would be entirely incomplete without a sewer system. So the principles of law which would apply to one system must likewise apply to the other. See City of Harrison v. Braswell, Ark. 194 S.W. 2d 12; Opinion of Justices of the Supreme Court of New Hampshire filed November 8, 1944, reported in 39 A. 2d 765; Hunter's Appeal, 71 Conn. 189, 41 A. 557; Robertson v. Zimmirman, 268 N.Y. 52, 196 N.E. 740; New York State Electric and Gas Corp. v. City of Plattsburg, 281 N.Y. 450,

24 N.E. 2d 122; City of Edwardsville v. Jenkins, 376 Ill. 327, 33 N.E. 2d 598, 134 A.L.R. 891; Wolcott v. Village of Lombard, 387 Ill. 621, 57 N.E. 2d 351,355; Grin v. Village of Lewisville, 54 Ohio App. 270, 6 N.E. 2d 98; Anderson v. City of Fargo, 64 N.D. 178, 250 N.W. 794..."

# c. PROPRIETARY POWER TO IMPOSE USE CHARGES

In addition to the cases cited above, there is extensive authority throughout the United States for the proposition that a connection charge is not a tax or a special assessment, even when the connection charge is imposed in a higher amount against a class of users who may be considered "latecomers" to the system originally constructed by the existing populace. For example, in the case of <u>Brandel v. Civil City of Lawrenceburg</u>, 230 N.E. 2d 778 (Ind. 1967), there was an existing sewage disposal system constructed around 1940, and thereafter in 1962 a new system was constructed serving the outlying districts of the city and connected to the old system. The ordinance set a connection fee of \$200.00 for those connecting to the new section of the system and \$62.50 for those connecting to the old system. The court stated:

> "As to the charge that there is discrimination because those making connections in the new area to the new portion of the system are paying more than those the city is charging \$62.50 for connection to the old system, we find that there is a basis for such difference. The original cost of the older system was less and therefore the charges for its use would be less than the cost for the new system, and we find no grounds for overturning the court's finding based on the evidence with reference to such charges."

The court further dealt with the question of whether or not the ordinance setting connection fees to the sewage system and requiring

-17-

connection of all users within ninety days was in reality a tax levied on an unequal and discriminatory basis. The court responded

> "The tax here involved, it should be noted, is not a benefit tax, but rather a use tax for the services of disposing of sewage from particular property. It is not a benefit tax for the reason that not all property in the area under the ordinance is required to pay the \$200.00 fee. It is only such property as has sewage to be disposed of to which the tax is applicable. In other words, it is a tax for the use of disposing of sewage from particular property."

In a similar case, <u>Hartman v. Aurora Sanitary District</u>, 177 N.E. 2d 214 (Ill. 1961), the existing sewer system of the Aurora Sanitary District had been constructed through ad valorem taxation. The bonded indebtedness was fully retired, and the original area of the district was then tripled and the population doubled. The Illinois Supreme Court upheld the validity of an ordinance which imposed a charge of \$160.00 for connection to the sewer system for persons within the newly annexed area. The Court noted that the ordinance recited the desirability of further improvements to the system, and that

> "These purposes can best be accomplished by the establishment of a capital improvement fund; that this fund should be acquired in a fair and equitable way from landowners within the area of the District, taking into consideration the fact that the existing capital improvement facilities were constructed at the expense of certain landowners of certain areas within the District."

The Court further stated:

"We know of no requirement that a municipality, acting pursuant to statute, must affirmatively show the criteria by which they exercised such discretion.

It does not appear from the fact of the ordinance that the connection fee assessed is unreasonable, arbitrary, or oppressive. Rather, the ordinance established a connection fee pursuant to statutory authority. Such an ordinance is presumptively valid....

The Plaintiff insists that both the statute and the ordinance are unconstitutional in that they impose a special nonuniform tax.... the District contends, however, that both the ordinance and the enabling statute are legitimate and nondiscriminatory exercises of the police power and do not constitute an improper tax.

We feel that the Plaintiff's arguments have been carefully considered in the recent case of <u>Spalding v.</u> City of Granite City, 415 Ill. 274, 113 N.E. 2d 567,569...In answer to the same constitutional attacks as presented here, we said: 'The case at hand involves a situation where a privilege is extended to the property owners of the area to avail themselves of the use of the sewer or not as they see fit, and where the price to be paid for the privilege is tentatively fixed beforehand. Where the use of such privilege is left optional with the property owner, by his election to avail himself of it or not, he contracts with the city to pay the rental fixed by its ordinance, if he elects to use it. It is obvious that Plaintiff will be subject to no charge unless he elects to use the sewer ... It is only proper that the property owners of the other areas of Granite City should not pay for a sewerage extension which only the Nameoki area can use. It is also proper that the burden of the extension should be borne by the Nameoki area property owners who elect to have the benefit of use of the existing sewer for which they paid nothing in taxes. It is a reasonable classification to require the property owners and/or residents of the area to pay the cost of the construction of the sewer system by which sewage would be carried from the locality into the existing sewer system ... '

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